IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 13 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 67,473

JAMES WILCOTT,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALBRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITSMICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUITP. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
POST OFFICE BOX 671
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE LOWER COURTS ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT SIMPLE POSSESSION OF CONTRABAND IS NOT A CATEGORY TWO LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF INTRODUCING CONTRABAND INTO A PENAL INSTITUTION.

The information charged that petitioner:

On or about the 20th day of July, 1984, in Jackson County, Florida, did unlawfully introduce into or possess upon the grounds of a state correctional institution, to-wit: The Marianna Community Correctional Center, a contraband article, to-wit: Cannabis, in violation of Section 944.47, Florida Statutes....

(R-1; emphasis added). This is a violation of Section 944.47, Florida Statutes (1983), which prohibits both the introduction of contraband into a prison, or the possession of such contraband.

In order to be a category four (now category two) lesser offense, both the allegation of the information and the proof at trial must support the lesser crime. Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968). Here, the information charged introduction or possession in the alternative. The evidence at trial showed that petitioner was in actual possession of the contraband at the same time he introduced it into the prison. Since there was a completed act, attempt is not a lesser offense. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.510(a). Since the amount of the contraband was less than 20 grams, the only proper lesser offense was misdemeanor possession. Section 893.13(1)(f),

Florida Statutes (1983). The failure to instruct on the next-lower lesser offense is always reversible error. State v. Abreau, 363 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978). The only verdicts available to petitioner's jury were guilty as charged or not guilty (R-8).

In Dees v. State, 397 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), the court construed Section 951.22, Florida Statutes (1979), which is a parallel statute prohibiting introduction into or possession of contraband inside of a county jail. That statute provided:

It is unlawful except as duly authorized by the sheriff or officer in charge to introduce into or possess upon the grounds of any county detention facility . . . the following articles which are hereby declared to be contraband for purposes of this act, to wit: . . . any narcotic, hypnotic, or excitative drug

The defendant pled guilty to misdemeanor possession of marijuana in county court. He was then prosecuted for the felony of introducing or possessing the same contraband and claimed double jeopardy. The Second District distinguished London v. State, 347 So.2d 639 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) and held:

Here, however, Dees' possession of marijuana was category four lesser-included offense of his simultaneous introduction or possession of the same marijuana into the county detention facility.

Id. at 1146. Thus, because misdemeanor possession was a lesser offense of introducing or possessing in the county jail, double jeopardy barred a prosecution for the greater crime.

London, supra, had held that possession of marijuana was not a lesser of introduction under the version of Section 944.47, Florida Statutes (1975), which provides:

It is unlawful to introduce into or upon the grounds of any correctional or penal institution, . . . any of the following articles which are hereby declared to be contraband for the purposes of this section, to wit: . . . any narcotic or hypnotic or excitative drug or any drug of whatever kind or nature

The difference between London and Dees may be explained by examining the statute at issue. The county jail statute expressly included possession within its terms, while the state prison statute in effect at that time did not.

In Tessier v. State, 462 So.2d 123 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), the Court followed its earlier decision in Dees, and held that one could not be convicted of both introduction and possession of contraband in a county jail, where, even though different statutes were involved:

The question here is whether the two offenses are separate offenses. If so, convictions for both offenses are not prohibited. The test is "[i]f each crimes...requires an element of proof that the other does not, then ...[t]hey are separate offenses." State v. Baker, 456 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1984). In this case, all elements of the simple possession offense under Section 893.13 are contained within the elements of the introduction or possession of contraband offense under Section 951.22. Section 951.22 proscribes the introduction or possession of contraband into a county detention facility and specifically includes "controlled substances" as

being within the definition of contraband. Section 893.13 proscribes the unlawful possession of controlled substances. Thus, we conclude that these two offenses are not separate offenses.

Id. at 124.

The present state prison statute, under which petitioner was charged, now includes either possession or introduction within its terms:

(1) (a) Except through regular channels as authorized by the officer in charge of the correctional institution, it is unlawful to introduce into or upon the grounds of any state correctional institution...any of the following articles which are hereby declared to be contraband for the purposes of this section, to wit: ...4. Any narcotic, hypnotic, or excitative drug or any drug of whatever kind or nature....

* * *

(c) It is unlawful for any inmate of any state correctional institution or person while upon the grounds of any state correctional institution to be in actual or constructive possession of any article or thing declared by this section to be contraband, except as authorized by the officer in charge of such correctional institution.

Section 944.17(1)(a)4 and (c), Florida Statutes (1983).

Thus, London, supra, which construed the prior statute in which possession was not an element, is no longer valid and the holdings of Dees and Tessier, which construed the parallel county jail statute in which possession is an element, are fully applicable to the present case. Because

the present statute prohibits the introduction or possession of contraband, because the information charged the alternative crimes, and because the proof at trial showed that petitioner possessed the marijuana at the same time he introduced it, and created a jury question as to whether he intended to introduce it, misdemeanor possession was a category two lesser offense of the crime charged.

Two other recent Second District cases provide support to petitioner's argument, by analogy. In Murray v. State, 464 So.2d 622 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) and Williams v. State, 464 So.2d 624 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), the court held that simple possession of contraband, a crime defined by Section 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1985), was a lesser included offense of possession of contraband with intent to sell, a crime defined by Section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985), so that the defendants could not be convicted and sentenced on both simple possession and possession with intent to sell. The court reasoned that since possession with intent to sell contained possession as an essential element, and since possession contained no additional elements, double jeopardy barred a conviction and sentence on both.

The same is true in the instant case. Section 944.47(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985) prohibits introduction of contraband. Section 944.47(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1985)

prohibits actual or constructive possession of contraband. Since petitioner had actual possession at the time he introduced the contraband, simple possession becomes a lesser included offense.

This Court must disapprove the holding in the instant case, approve the holdings in Dees and Tessier, and grant petitioner a new trial because the jury was not given the opportunity to find him guilty of simple possession as a proper category two lesser offense.

VI CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner requests that this Court quash the opinion of the lower tribunal, and remand with directions that petitioner be awarded a new trial.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT



P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
Assistant Public Defender
Post Office Box 671
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 488-2458

Attorney for Petitioner