IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES WILCOTT,
Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: 67,473

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

_____ /

FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAR 5 1988
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY L. PRINTY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301

(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent accepts Preliminary Statement of Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Facts with the following addition.

Petitioner stipulated to being an inmate. (R 75).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Possession of less than 20 grams of cannabis is not a lesser included offense of possession of contraband in a State correctional institution. Possession of contraband in a prison facility is a separate and distinct evil with defferent and more socially severe consequences than mere possession by a civilian for "personal use."

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD
THAT SIMPLE POSSESSION OF
CONTRABAND IS NOT A CATEGORY
II LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF
INTRODUCING CONTRABAND INTO A
STATE CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTION.

Petitioner argues that Section 944.47 Florida Statutes (1983) proscribes the introduction or possession of contraband by an inmate in a State correctional institution. Cannabis is a contraband, so therefore simple possession of marijuana is a lesser included offense of Section 944.47 and the jury should have been so instructed because Petitioner lacked intent to possess the contraband on the grounds of the State institution. He relies upon Dees v. State, 397 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), and Tessier v. State, 462 So.2d 123 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

Respondent answers that the lower court opinion correctly rejects this argument because simple possession of less than 20 grams of cannabis is not a lesser included offense of possession of contraband under Section 944.47(1)(a)(1-5) which may include articles of food, clothing, weapons, or intoxicating beverages. Nor is intent to introduce or possess the contraband an element of Section 944.47(1)(c). Another factor not overlooked below was the obvious legislative intent to deal harshly with those who possess contraband on the grounds of

a State correctional institution. Petitioner was convicted of a second-degree felony. The defendants in Tessier and Dees, supra, violated Section 951.22 Florida Statutes, a third-degree felony.

Respondent also submits that Section 893.13(1)(f) Florida Statutes (1983) makes possession of less than 20 grams of cannabis for a person who is not an inmate and who is not on the grounds of a State prison, a misdemeanor. Likewise, a person outside a prison may possess a knife or firearm but an inmate in prison clearly should not and is not allowed to do so.

This Court stated in Smith v. State, 430 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1983) that "A less serious offense is included in a more serious one if all the elements required to be proven to establish the former are also required to be proven, along with more, to establish the latter. If each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, the offenses are separate and discrete and one is not included in the other. Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306, (1932)." Id. at 449.

Similarly, the construction of the instant statute Section 944.47 and subsection 893.13(1)(f) require "proof of an element the other does not" and the "offenses are separate and discrete and one is not included in the other." The State was not required to prove possession of some arbitrary amount, more or less than 20 grams of cannabis, only the fact of possession of

contraband, to-wit: cannabis, by an inmate.

Petitioner makes no argument that its defense relied on either authority to possess cannabis in a correctional institute, a defense provided in subsection 944.47(1)(a) which reads, "except through regular channels as authorized by the officer in charge," or that he was not an inmate while he possessed the contraband. In fact, Petitioner stipulated that he was an inmate. (R 75). See subsection 944.47(5)(c) which states that:

It is unlawful for any inmate of any State correctional institution or any person while upon the grounds of any State correctional institution to be in actual or constructive possession of any article or thing declared by this section to be contraband, except as authorized by the officer in charge of such correctional institution. [Emphasis supplied.]

Thus, by stipulation, Petitioner placed himself squarely within the ambit of subsection 944.47(5)(c), Florida Statutes (1983), and a jury instruction on the misdemeanor possession as a lesser included offense would have been improper and have vitiated the clear legislative intent of Section 944.47.

In London v. State, 347 So.2d 639 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), the court held, in a case involving similar issues, that:

In determining whether a plea of double-jeopardy can be sustained the test is whether the second prosecution places the defendant twice in jeopardy for the same offense, and not whether he has been tried before upon the same

acts, circumstances or situation, the facts of which may sustain a conviction for a separate offense. [Emphasis supplied.]

Id. at 640.

The court then rejected the defendant's contention therein that "possession of marijuana is a lesser-included offense or lesser degree of the offense of bringing cannabis upon the grounds of a penal institution." Id. at 640.

Respondent agrees with the result in London, supra, but submits that the legal basis for the distinction between Section 944.47 and Section 893.13 is in the Blockburger test and the intent of the legislature to create separate and discrete offenses and punishments. The decision in Dees v. State, 397 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), is incorrect. However, the court in Dees, supra, was without the benefit of Borges v. State, 415 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1982) and Smith, supra.

Respondent submits that Tessier, supra, is likewise an incorrect application of this Court's decision in State v. Baker, 456 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1984), a case in the Borges line of cases on double-jeopardy concerns.

The court below correctly noted that in proving a violation of Section 944.47 the prosecution need only show that there was possession of contraband by an inmate, or any person upon the grounds of a State correctional institution, and that contraband need not be shown to be cannabis, nor is it necessary

to prove the existence or to offer evidence of a certain amount of cannabis. The fact that the legislature chose to make a violation of Section 944.47(1)(a)1 or subparagraph (1)(a)2, a felony of the third degree but all other felonies of the second degree, "clearly reveals the legislature's intent to prohibit the possession of any contraband by an inmate." Wilcott v. State, 472 So.2d 1389,1391 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).


Petitioner claims that he had no intent to introduce or possess contraband in the prison as he knew this to be illegal. Respondent denies intent is an element of the offense and finds little support for the claim in the record. The concealment of the contraband on Petitioner's person belies his self-serving testimony that he intended to leave the contraband at the job site.

CONCLUSION

The legislature was free to create a separate crime for possession of cannabis by an inmate on the grounds of a State correctional institution and to allow that inmate to be treated as if he were not an inmate on the grounds of a State correctional institution would be a pure mockery of the legislative intent of Section 944.47. This Court should affirm the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal entered below.